FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/21/2025 4:32 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/22/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. ____

Case #: 1038127

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ERIC S. ROLOSON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MATTHEW E. CATALLO Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

The prosecution induced Eric Roloson to plead guilty by repeatedly assuring him the victims would endorse a special sex offender sentencing alternative sentence ("SSOSA"). Indeed, Mr. Roloson turned down a lesser plea to child molestation because the prosecution repeatedly assured him that, if he pleaded to first-degree child rape, the victims would support a SSOSA and explain why he should receive that treatment disposition to the court.

At the sentencing hearing, the victims and their mother only explained why the court *should not* impose a SSOSA, and they all asked the court to imprison Mr. Roloson for life. The prosecutor stood silent during their statements. Mr. Roloson immediately moved to withdraw his plea, but the wial court refused and sentenced Mr. Roloson to life in prison.

The court violated due process by preventing Mr.

Roloson from withdrawing his plea. Mr. Roloson relied on

the prosecutor's misrepresentation that the victims would support a SSOSA when he pleaded guilty. Under U.S. Supreme Court precedent, because this misrepresentation induced Mr. Roloson's plea, his plea was involuntary.

Misapplying the law, the Court of Appeals affirmed. It held the plea was not involuntary because the victim statements did not "breach" the plea agreement. The court misapplied and neglected precedent, used the wrong standard of review, and largely sidestepped Mr. Roloson's voluntariness argument. The Court of Appeals' fundamental misunderstanding of the law controlling plea bargains is an issue of substantial public interest, is contrary to United States Supreme Court precedent, and raises a significant constitutional question. This Court should grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Eric Roloson, the petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. RAP 13.4.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Roloson seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision dated October 8, 2024. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration on December 19, 2024. Both decisions are appended to this petition.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Due process requires that a defendant's guilty plea be voluntary. A plea agreement is involuntary if it was induced by a misrepresentation. A misrepresentation does not need to be knowingly made; a misrepresentation, even if made in good faith, can render a plea involuntary. Here, the Court of Appeals failed to address whether Mr. Roloson's plea was involuntary because he relied on the prosecution's misrepresentations. This Court should grant review and hold Mr. Roloson's plea was involuntary because the prosecution's misrepresentation that the victims would endorse a SSOSA induced the plea. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(3), (b)(4).

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The prosecution promised Mr. Roloson that if he pleaded guilty to first-degree child rape, it would recommend a SSOSA under RCW 9.94A.670.¹ CP 133. The State repeatedly promised Mr. Roloson that the victims and their mother would endorse a SSOSA and explain why the court should impose that treatment disposition. RP 18, 56, 60.

Consequently, Mr. Roloson rejected an offer to plead to child molestation because the victims would support a SSOSA if he pleaded to child rape, and he realized their opinion would be given "great weight" under RCW 9.94A.670 (4). RP 55–56; CP 135. Mr. Roloson testified that he would not have pleaded to these specific charges if the victims "were not on board." RP 55–56.

¹ A SSOSA allows a person convicted of a qualifying sex offense to receive sex offender treatment in lieu of incarceration. RCW 9.94A.670(5).

The trial court accepted Mr. Roloson's guilty plea to two counts of first-degree child rape. RP 20. During the plea hearing, the court noted that the plea was made with a "joint recommendation for SSOSA [and] the victims have endorsed SSOSA for this individual." RP 18.

But the victims' statements in the pre-sentence investigation report ("PSI") indicated the victims did not support a SSOSA. CP 20–21. Elizabeth Roloson, the mother, explained, "The girls have a life sentence dealing with what happened to them. [Mr. Roloson] should have a life sentence in prison because you can't take it back." CP 21.

Alarmed, Mr. Roloson's attorney spoke with the prosecutor, who assured Mr. Roloson's attorney that the victim statements in the PSI were inaccurate and "that [Ms. Roloson] and the victims are still supportive of SSOSA." CP 31. The prosecutor reiterated that the victims supported a SSOSA five days later. CP 59. However, the victims also

told the prosecutor they "had conflict" about recommending a SSOSA. CP 137. Yet the prosecutor did not convey this to Mr. Roloson. CP 59, 66, 137.

Despite the prosecutor's repeated assurances to Mr. Roloson, the victims did not endorse a SSOSA at the sentencing hearing. Ms. Roloson referred to Mr. Roloson as "truly an evil man who does not have remorse. . . . The devastation that has been caused cannot be reversed. The time [Mr. Roloson] has spent in jail does not compare to the lifetime of sorrow and scars he has left on my daughters." RP 40.

In discussing SSOSA, Ms. Roloson explained, "It was certainly a hard choice to know that he may be getting what he wants after all the years of him manipulating and holding his evil way so well, but I chose to put him in your hands, Your Honor, and ultimately in God's hands where true justice will take place." RP 41 (emphasis added). She further intimated why Mr. Roloson should not receive a SSOSA: "I do have

fears that if he is released into the community, he will recommit these horrendous crimes . . . I do fear [Mr. Roloson] will try to come after us if he is released." RP 41.

Ms. Roloson concluded by asking the court to sentence Mr. Roloson to life in prison:

I do not believe Eric Roloson is sorry for his actions. He has shown that by running from police for eight months and *trying to take the easy way out with the SSOSA deal.* . . . He is an evil man who *deserves the same life sentence* he gave my daughters when he decided to rape them for nine years.

RP 42 (emphasis added).

G.B. also reiterated her mother's request to imprison Mr. Roloson for life: "I don't want—I don't want [Mr. Roloson] to be able to hurt other children the way he hurt my family. I think that he is evil and *does not deserve any* freedom, happiness, or a new life." RP 43 (emphasis added).

T.B. never endorsed a SSOSA, and she only outlined why Mr. Roloson should not be released to the community.

She said Mr. Roloson "makes me fear for my safety, my

family's and our community's." RP 46–47. Like G.B. and her mother, T.B. effectively asked the court to imprison Mr. Roloson for life: "[Mr. Roloson] cannot be trusted as a contributing and safe member of society, and he has proven that time and time again. . . . I fear that if proper action isn't taken, that others may be hurt and abused by Eric. I cannot live with that. I ask that you consider the safety of all involved." RP 47 (emphasis added).

Immediately after the victims finished speaking, defense counsel moved to "stop the sentencing so I can file a motion to withdraw our plea." RP 47. She explained, "this is completely unanticipated by both sides and not what we agreed to. . . . We had a plea agreement; this is not consistent with that plea agreement." RP 47. The prosecutor opposed Mr. Roloson's motion. CP 121–31. The court noted the victim statements "are certainly not in line with the Court imposing a SSOSA sentence," but denied Mr. Roloson's motion to withdraw his plea. RP 50–51, 75–76.

The court then denied a SSOSA and sentenced Mr. Roloson to 120 months to life on both counts, to be served concurrently. RP 88; CP 101–02.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding the court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Roloson's motion to withdraw his plea. Slip Op. at 11–12. It reasoned the victim statements "did not result in a breach of the plea agreement between [Mr.] Roloson and the State." Slip Op. at 12.

F. LAW AND ARGUMENT

Because the prosecutor's misrepresentation that the victims and their mother would support a SSOSA induced Mr. Roloson's guilty plea, his plea was involuntary.

Mr. Roloson pleaded guilty to two counts of child rape because he believed the victims and their mother would endorse a SSOSA and explain why the court should impose that treatment disposition. The opposite happened at sentencing: both victims and Ms. Roloson asked the court to impose a life sentence. The court refused to withdraw Mr. Roloson's plea and sentenced him to life in prison.

The victims' endorsement of a SSOSA was a misrepresentation, and it induced Mr. Roloson to plead guilty. Under binding United States Supreme Court precedent, his plea was involuntary and void. But the Court of Appeals misconstrued and ignored precedent when it rejected Mr. Roloson's argument. The court's mishandling of the issue reveals that this Court's guidance is required, as there is a dearth of similar cases in Washington. This Court should grant review of this significantly important constitutional issue and reverse so Mr. Roloson can withdraw his plea.

1. Even if an accused person was correctly informed of the direct consequences of their plea, the plea may still be involuntary if it was induced by a misrepresentation.

"[A] guilty plea is a grave and solemn act to be accepted only with care and discernment[.]" *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1970). "A defendant who enters such a plea simultaneously

waives several constitutional rights, including his privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, his right to trial by jury, and his right to confront his accusers." *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466, 89 S. Ct. 1166, 22 L. Ed. 2d 418 (1969).

Because "a defendant gives up constitutional rights by agreeing to a plea agreement, and, because fundamental rights of the accused are at issue, due process considerations come into play." *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 7, 17 P.3d 591 (2001). "For this waiver to be valid under the Due Process Clause," it must be voluntary. *McCarthy*, 394 U.S. at 466. If not, the plea "has been obtained in violation of due process and is therefore void." *Id*.

The United States Supreme Court in *Brady* established that knowledge of the plea's direct consequences is not enough: "A plea of guilty entered by one fully aware of the direct consequences must stand *unless* induced by misrepresentation (including unfulfilled or unfulfillable

promises)." *Brady*, 397 U.S. at 755 (cleaned up & emphasis added). The *Brady* standard "does not limit unfulfillable promises to those made knowingly, but merely states that the defendant's plea is involuntary when the misrepresentation for which the defendant based his agreement on could not be fulfilled." *Sawyer v. United States*, 279 F. Supp. 3d 883, 888 (D. Ariz. 2017); *accord United States* v. *Fisher*, 711 F.3d 460, 467 (4th Cir. 2013).

The standard from *Brady* is the "final authority" concerning whether a guilty plea complies with federal due process. *State v. Radcliffe*, 139 Wn. App. 214, 224, 159 P.3d 486 (2007). But the Court of Appeals used a far different standard than the one expressed in *Brady*.

Citing State v. Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d 582, 591, 141 P.3d 49 (2006), the Court of Appeals wrote, "a guilty plea is not involuntary if 'the defendant was correctly informed of all of the direct consequences of his guilty plea." Slip Op. at 11.

That is not the law, under both *Brady* and Washington case law.

This Court held a plea is involuntary if it was "the product of or induced by coercive threat, fear, persuasion, promise, or deception." *Woods v. Rhay*, 68 Wn. 2d 601, 605, 414 P.2d 601 (1966). Division Three of the Court of Appeals similarly observed, "A plea may be involuntary due to circumstances such as misinformation, threats, or mental coercion." *State v. Horntvedt*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 589, 599, 539 P.3d 869 (2023). This Court has also acknowledged that a misrepresentation does not need to be knowingly made. *E.g., Mendoza*, 157 Wn. 2d at 587–90 (discussing cases).

This Court's decision in *Mendoza* did not alter any of this settled precedent. Instead, that decision simply indicated a plea "*may* be deemed involuntary when based on misinformation regarding a direct consequence of the plea." *Mendoza*, 157 Wn. 2d at 591 (emphasis added). Nowhere in

Mendoza did the Court indicate that was the only way for a plea to be involuntary.

Multiple cases in Washington highlight how a plea can be involuntary irrespective of whether the defendant was correctly informed of direct consequences. For instance, a prosecutor's threat to add charges if the defendant does not plead guilty may render the plea involuntary. State v. Swindell, 93 Wn. 2d 192, 198, 607 P. 2d 852 (1980). Similarly, coercion from a third party may render a plea involuntary. State v. Frederick, 100 Wn.2d 550, 556, 674 P.2d 136 (1983), overruled on other grounds by Thompson v. State, Dep't of *Licensing*, 138 Wn. 2d 783, 982 P. 2d 601 (1999). A plea can also be involuntary if it was induced by a prosecutor's appeal to fears of racial bias. *Horntvedt*, 29 Wn. App. 2d at 599. And a misrepresentation about a collateral consequence can render a plea involuntary. State v. Stowe, 71 Wn. App. 182, 188, 858 P.2d 267 (1993).

None of these decisions focus on whether the defendant was correctly informed of the direct consequences of a plea. Rather, courts focus more broadly on "the relevant circumstances surrounding" the plea. *State v. Williams*, 117 Wn. App. 390, 398, 71 P.3d 686 (2003).

As stated above, one such relevant circumstance is whether a misrepresentation induced the plea. *See Brady*, 397 U.S. at 755. That is the relevant consideration in this case, yet the Court of Appeals refused to consider this crucial issue. This Court should grant review and clarify that the *Brady* standard ultimately controls when determining the voluntariness of a plea.

2. The Court of Appeals misread the facts and misapplied this Court's precedent and other law.

A guilty plea is involuntary and must be withdrawn if it was induced by a "misrepresentation (including unfulfilled or unfulfillable promises)." *Brady*, 397 U.S. at 755. That is exactly what occurred here, as the prosecutor's

misrepresentation that the victims would endorse a SSOSA induced Mr. Roloson's guilty plea.

The Court of Appeals mishandled this issue. First, it reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Slip Op. at 10–12. As this Court has clarified, however, courts review "the constitutional adequacy of a defendant's plea de novo." *State v. Snider*, 199 Wn. 2d 435, 444, 508 P. 3d 1014 (2022). Specifically, courts reviews whether a plea was involuntary "de novo without giving deference to the trial court's ruling." *State v. Buckman*, 190 Wn. 2d 51, 57 n. 2, 409 P. 3d 193 (2018).

Second, the court misunderstood what can render a plea involuntary. As described above, a plea is not voluntary simply because the court correctly informed the defendant of the direct consequences of a plea. That plea may still be involuntary if it was induced by a misrepresentation. *See Brady*, 397 U.S. at 755.

Third, the Court of Appeals gave no weight to the fundamental importance of the impact of the victim statements at sentencing. Instead, the court merely noted, "these statements were within their rights and did not result in a breach of the plea agreement between [Mr.] Roloson and the State." Slip Op. at 12. But Mr. Roloson did not claim the victim statements "result[ed] in a breach" of the agreement.

Whether a prosecutor breached a plea agreement and whether the plea was involuntary are conceptually distinct. *See State v. S.M.*, 100 Wn. App. 401, 409, 996 P.2d 1111 (2000). The former focuses on the prosecutor's post-plea conduct, *State v. Talley*, 134 Wn.2d 176, 187, 949 P.2d 358 (1998), while the latter focuses on whether improper influences induced the defendant's guilty plea, *Brady*, 397 U.S. at 755.

The court refused to consider the latter. While there is a dearth of factually analogous case law in Washington,

several federal authorities reveal the involuntary nature of Mr. Roloson's plea.

For example, in *United States v. Fisher*, the defendant pleaded guilty in reliance on the prosecutor's statement that certain inculpatory evidence would be admitted at trial. 711 F. 3d at 466. However, the officer that gathered the evidence lied in order to secure the warrant, indicating the evidence would likely have been suppressed. Id. The defendant moved to withdraw the plea once he discovered the falsity of the officer's testimony. *Id.* at 463. The Fourth Circuit held the plea was involuntary and reversed. Id. at 470. It reasoned the defendant's plea was based on a misrepresentation about the admissibility of evidence. *Id.* at 466–67. That misrepresentation induced the plea, "thereby rendering" the defendant's "plea involuntary." Id. at 465.

Similarly, in *United States v. Hammerman*, 528 F.2d 326, 330 (4th Cir. 1975), the prosecutor expressed his "firm belief" to the defendant that the court would follow his

sentencing recommendation. The defendant pleaded guilty based on that assurance. *Id.* at 329–30. The trial court ultimately departed from the recommendation and imposed a prison sentence. *Id.* at 330. The Fourth Circuit found the plea was involuntary and reversed. *Id.* at 330–31. Because the prosecutor "lacked the power to implement the prediction," the court found the prosecutor's assurance was an "unfulfillable' promise condemned by [*Brady*]." *Id.*; *see United States v. Amaya*, 111 F.3d 386, 388–87 (5th Cir. 1997) (holding similarly and reversing where a trial court's misrepresentation about its ability to sua sponte impose a reduced sentence induced the defendant's guilty plea).

Lastly, in *Sawyer v. United States*, the defendant pleaded to assaulting an officer with a sentence enhancement based on the government's representation that the officer suffered a permanent injury. 279 F. Supp. 3d at 884. After he pleaded, the defendant learned the injury was not permanent and moved to withdraw his plea. *Id.* The

district court granted the motion. *Id.* at 889. It found the misrepresentation about the injury constituted an "unfulfilled and unfulfillable promise" because the government would not have been able to prove the permanency of the injury at trial. *Id.* at 889.

Here, the prosecution repeatedly misinformed Mr. Roloson that the victims would support a SSOSA. Like the defendants in *Fisher*, *Hammerman*, and *Sawyer*, Mr. Roloson pleaded guilty in reliance on the prosecution's misrepresentation. That promise was "unfulfilled" as the victims did not support a SSOSA. *See Brady*, 397 U.S. at 755. This Court should grant review and hold that, under *Brady*, the prosecution's misrepresentation about the victims' support for a SSOSA rendered Mr. Roloson's plea involuntary.

3. This significant constitutional issue requires this Court's guidance.

This Court should grant review here and provide much-needed clarity. As the Court of Appeals in this case demonstrated, courts are misconstruing this Court's precedent and ignoring *Brady*.

The involuntariness of Mr. Roloson's plea is clear. He pleaded guilty because the prosecution assured him the victims would support a SSOSA. That support was pivotal for his decision, as he turned down a better offer because he thought he would receive victim support. CP 135; *Cf. State v. Estes*, 188 Wn.2d 450, 466, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017) ("[I]t is reasonably probable that had Estes known that there was a much higher chance that he would be spending life in prison, the result of the proceeding would have differed."). But when it mattered, he lacked their support and instead contended with the victims and their mother requesting a life

sentence. This is precisely the type of misrepresentation the *Brady* Court said would render a plea involuntary.

The Court of Appeals ignored this analysis. That is a problem, as countenancing what occurred here jeopardizes the integrity of plea bargaining. "If a defendant cannot rely upon an agreement made and accepted in open court, the fairness of the entire criminal justice system would be thrown into question." *State v. Tourtellotte*, 88 Wn. 2d 579, 584, 564 P.2d 799 (1977). "No attorney in the state could in good conscience advise his client to plead guilty and strike a bargain if that attorney cannot be assured" that core components of the plea agreement will be effectuated. *Id*.

"[T] the integrity of the plea bargain process requires that defendants be entitled to rely on plea bargains as soon as the court has accepted the plea." *State v. Miller*, 110 Wn.2d 528, 536, 756 P.2d 122 (1988), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). Mr. Roloson depended on the prosecutor's

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