FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/21/2025 10:19 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 103812-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

ERIC SEAN ROLOSON,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN P. JURVAKAINEN Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney

AYLSA DRAPER-DEHART / WSBA #61031 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

> HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91091

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Alysa S. Draper-Dehart, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly found that there was not a breach of the plea agreement. Slip Op. at 10. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the petition for review in *State of Washington v. Eric S. Roloson*, Court of Appeals No. 56823-3-II and Supreme Court No. 103812-7.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Does the Court of Appeals' decision, holding there was no breach of Roloson's plea and it was voluntary, warrant reconsideration there is not a significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitution or a substantial public interest?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 26, 2020, Eric Roloson was first seen by the Cowlitz County Superior Court for allegations of child rape and molestation for two different children. RP 5. He was charged with two counts of rape of a child in the first degree, domestic violence and two counts of child molestation in the first degree, domestic violence, against his two stepdaughters. CP 1; pg 152-55.

A plea offer was extended for a guilty plea to counts I and III rape of a child in the first degree domestic violence, and to dismiss counts II and IV child molestation in the first degree domestic violence. CP 133. The offer noted Roloson's standard range was 120-160 months to life and that the "parties agree to the following sentence: SOSSA, 12 mos, lifetime CC, SAPO with each victim, agrees any restitution." *Id.* Then noting that the prosecution's recommendation was based on "the following: Victims wishes per 10/21/21 conversation." *Id.* Roloson entered a plea to counts I and III, on November 8, 2021. RP 15-22.

During the November 8th plea hearing, the trial court went through every right he would be forfeiting with his plea. *Id.* He had no reservations about forfeiting those rights. RP 20. The court then informed him of the standard range on his charges, that both counts were subject to the indeterminate sentencing review board (ISRB), and the consequences of any error in his offender score. RP 18. Again, Roloson expressed no reservations. RP 18.

The court then was apprised of the joint recommendation for a sentence under the Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA). RP 18-19. The court then informed Roloson "you understand I don't have to follow that recommendation? I can give you anywhere within the standard range?". RP 19: 8-10. Roloson stated "I do understand that, Your Honor." RP 19: 11.

The court set sentencing to December 28, 2021. A presentencing investigation (PSI) report was ordered. RP 23. Both the State and defense counsel received copies of the PSI. Both

parties required additional time to investigate statements made by the defendant and the mother of his victims. They requested a continuance of the sentencing hearing. RP 25-28. Sentencing was scheduled for January 24, 2022. RP 28.

On January 7, 2022, the State spoke with the mother of Roloson's victims. CP 135-138, Appendix B. Both T.B. and her mother participated in the conversation. Id. They informed the State and its participants that they supported the SSOSA. Id. They further stated that their conflict was between wanting to see Roloson in prison and preventing themselves further harm and suffering by going through trial. CP 137. The State then again went over the SSOSA requirements and what such a sentencing alternative looked like in practice. Id, CP 140-144, Appendixes C and D. T.B. and her mother both stated they continued to support SSOSA. Id. They also informed the State and its representatives they had victim impact statements to read to the court. Id. They did not provide those to the State, as requested. *Id*, Appendix C.

Sentencing was finally held on January 31, 2022. Immediately, the State addressed the concerns that might arise after reading the PSI. RP January 31, 2022, pg 35.

"Having reviewed the PSI, you may question yourself, why there is an agreed recommendation of SSOSA. And so, I want to work through that process with you so you understand the where we're at and, and the concerns that both parties had regarding that PSI. ..., I took it to the victims, [T.B.] and [G.B.] and the victim's mother, Elizabeth. We sat down and we had a long conversation about all-all the options that were available to Mr. Roloson. I explained the process of SSOSA. ...

I then made it clear to them that I didn't want them to make a decision at that time. I wanted them to go home, think about it, and get in contact with me whether it was the next day or a week. ...

They contacted our office the next morning and stated that they were in support of SSOSA. ... but what they do want is some—they want this—they wanted an opportunity for this to be resolved. They wanted to—they recognized some of the concerns that are there for them as-as witnesses. But more importantly, they wanted finality. They did support the SSOSA. They still do support the SSOSA. But as with everything in life there are conflicts. And they're—they're just normal people who have had a really bad thing happen to them and they have some conflicts. They're going to have an opportunity to express that to Your Honor...

They'll express to you, probably better than what I could, what the process that they went through and why it is that they support SSOSA even though that they-they are conflicted."

RP35-7. The mother of the victims then spoke. RP 39: 22-25. However, she did inform the court that she did agree to SSOSA for her daughters, and the reasons why she made that decision. RP 40: 17-25; 41: 1-5-8.

Her daughters then spoke with the court. First, G.B. spoke about her feelings regarding Roloson and that she held concerns about what he could do in the future, if released. RP pg 43: 7-22. She then informed the court that she agreed to SSOSA only because she was scared to face him in trial. Then T.B. addressed the court. RP pgs 44-48. She detailed the years of abuse, the impact they had on her life, and her fears for the future. Following her statement, defense counsel moved to withdraw Roloson's plea. In her initial statements to the court, defense counsel was clear that the statements were unexpected and took both counsel off-guard. RP 49: 3-6, 16-24.

Defense and the State agreed the motion to withdraw should be heard prior to sentencing. The court requested briefing. RP 49. The motion was set for February 22, 2022. RP 51. On February 22, 2022, the court heard from Defense and then the State. The trial found that the State had not breached the plea agreement, and the victim was not acting as an agent of the State. RP 75-76. The court explained; "this does not, essentially, put the victim into a position where they're negotiating or part of the plea negotiation. They may have a position that's relayed, and in this case they did." RP 74: 17-20. The court further stated that "[the victim's] opinion was sought and it was relayed to the Defendant, and I don't have any doubt that the Defendant relied on that to some extent. But it's not a direct consequence of his guilty plea because the court still has to exercise its discretion at sentencing." RP 74: 20-24.

After denying the motion to withdraw, the court declined to give a SSOSA and sentenced Roloson within the standard range. The trial court reviewed the SSOSA statute and

requirements, and found that the SSOSA was "too lenient." RP 83.

In a unanimous decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed Roloson's convictions. Slip Opinion at 1. The Court of Appeals held: "the State did not breach the plea agreement, we need not reach Roloson's argument that he is entitled to either withdraw his guilty plea or request specific performance of the parties' agreement." Slip Op. at 4, citing State v McNichols, 128 Wn.2d 242, 253, 906 P.2d 329 (1995). In summary, the court explained that the plea was an agreement between the defendant and the State. Slip Op. at 6. "[J]ust because the parties reached an agreed recommendation does not mean the sentencing court '[sh]ould be faced with a one-sided hearing". Slip Op. at 6. Here, the "State clearly stated that it adhered to its recommendation and hoped the trial court would follow it." Slip Op. at 9.

Roloson now petitions this Court for review.

A. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE PETITION FAILS TO RAISE GROUNDS UNDER RAP 13.4(B).

Because Roloson's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Roloson claims the Court of Appeals' decisions are in conflict with decisions made by the Supreme Court, that there is a significant question of law under the Washinton or United States Constitution and it involves a substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3)

and (4). He does not claim grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with the Supreme Court decision, there is not a significant question of law under the Washington State or United States Constitution, and there is not a substantial public interest to be determined by the Supreme Court. Because Roloson fails to raise grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b), review should not be granted.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY RECONSI-DERATION BECAUSE THE PLEA WAS NOT BREACHED, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR AFTER DENYING THE MOTION TO WITHDRAW.

The Court of Appeals correctly held Roloson's plea was not breached and that the trial court correctly did not allow the plea to be withdrawn. Slip Opinion 10, 12. A plea agreement is not a contract between a defendant and a victim, a plea agreement is a contract between the defendant and the prosecutor. *State v. Turley*, 149 Wn.2d 395, 400, 69 P.3d 338 (2003). A prosecutor must act in good faith when carrying out the terms of the plea

agreement. State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 828, 839, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997); State v. Marler, 32 Wn. App. 503, 508, 648 P.2d 903, review denied, 98 Wn.2d 1007 (1982). However, plea agreements are more than simple contracts. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d at 839, 947 P.2d 1199.

Since plea agreements concern fundamental rights of the accused, constitutional due process rights apply. *Id.* "Due process requires a prosecutor to adhere to the terms of the agreement". *Id.* (*citing Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971)); *State v. Talley*, 134 Wn.2d 176, 183, 949 P.2d 358 (1998).

Accordingly, a plea agreement obligates the State to recommend to the court the sentence contained in the agreement. *Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 183, 949 P.2d 358; *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840, 947 P.2d 1199. This obligation does not, however, require the State to make the sentencing recommendation enthusiastically. *Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 183, 949 P.2d 358; *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840, 947 P.2d 1199. At the same time, the State

must not undercut the terms of the agreement. *Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 183, 949 P.2d 358; *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840, 947 P.2d 1199. The State can undercut a plea agreement either explicitly or implicitly through conduct indicating an intent to circumvent the agreement. *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840, 947 P.2d 1199.

To determine whether a prosecutor has adhered to the terms of an agreement, the court can review the sentencing record to ascertain the parties' "objective manifestations of intent." *Turley*, 149 Wn.2d at 400, 69 P.3d 338 (*citing Wilson Court Ltd. P'Ship v. Tony Maroni's, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 692, 699, 952 P.2d 590 (1998)).

"When a defendant pleads guilty after receiving a charging document that accurately describes the elements of the offense charged, their plea is presumed to be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent." *State v. Snider*, 199 Wn.2d 435, 445, 508 P.3d 1014, 1020 (2022) (citing *Bousley v. United States*, 523 U.S. 614, 618, 118 S. Ct. 1604, 140 L. Ed. 2d 828 (1998)). To be voluntary, a plea of guilty must be freely, unequivocally, intelligently, and

understandingly made in open court by the accused person with full knowledge of his legal and constitutional rights and of the consequences of his act. It cannot be the product of or induced by coercive threat, fear, persuasion, promise, or deception. *In re Woods v. Rhay*, 68 Wn.2d 601, 605, 414 P.2d 601 (1966), see also *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970)¹. In fact, entry of guilty pleas for the recommendation of more lenient sentences are not involuntary. *Brady*, 397 U.S. at 753, 90 S.Ct. at 1471.

The rule that a plea must be intelligently made to be valid does not require that a plea be vulnerable to later attack if the defendant did not correctly assess every relevant factor entering into his decision. A defendant is not entitled to withdraw his plea merely because he discovers long after the plea has been accepted that his calculus misapprehended the quality of the State's case or the likely penalties attached to alternative courses of action. More particularly, absent misrepresentation or other impermissible conduct by state agents, cf. *Von Moltke v. Gillies*, 332 U.S. 708, 68 S.Ct. 316, 92

¹ A plea of guilty is not invalid merely because entered to avoid possibility of a death penalty. Even if the death penalty was not applicable 9 years later does not require the conviction to be set aside.

L.Ed. 309 (1948), a voluntary plea of guilty intelligently made in the light of the then applicable law does not become vulnerable because later judicial decisions indicate that the plea rested on a faulty premise.

Brady, 397 U.S. at 757, 90 S. Ct. at 1473, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747.

A plea may be involuntary because of misrepresentation. *See Sawyer v. United States*, 279 F. Supp. 3d 883, 887 (D. Ariz. 2017).² However, assessment of the "misinformation, threats, or mental coercion," looks to the parties involved with the plea. *State v. Horntvedt*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 589, 599, 539 P.3d 869, 874 (2023).³ Misrepresentation from the prosecutor can be with regards to statements made by the prosecutor which are "blatant misrepresentations," *United States v. Fisher*, 711 F.3d 460, 465 (4th Cir. 2013).⁴ But to set aside a plea as involuntary there must

² A plea was involuntary because the State represented the nature of the evidence against the defendant that it would have argued in trial.

³ Where plea was involuntary and in violation of due process because it was predicated on race-based prosecutorial misconduct.

⁴ Where gross police misconduct went to the heart of the prosecutions case, the plea was induced by the officer's

first be impermissible government conduct. *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. at 757.

When there is a denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea the Court of Appeals reviews the decision for abuse of discretion. See *State v. Pugh*, 153 Wn. App. 569, 576, 222 P.3d 821, 824 (2009), *State v. Olmsted*, 70 Wn.2d 116, 118, 422 P.2d 312, 313–14 (1966).

Victims are not a party to a plea, however, their input can be noted. The prosecutor and the defendant are the only parties to a plea agreement. *State v. Sanchez*, 143 Wn.2d 339, 348, 46 P.3d 774 (2002)⁵ *citing State v. Wakefield*, 130 Wn.2d 464, 474, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). The statute governing the plea-bargaining process agrees with that assertion. *See* RCW 9.94A.421.

misconduct as the prosecutor indicated the evidence would be admitted at trial if the defendant did not plea.

⁵ A community corrections officer was not a party to a plea agreement when preparing a presentence investigation report and was not bound by a plea agreement.

In a case involving a crime against a person as defined under RCW 9.94A.411, the prosecutor shall make reasonable efforts to inform the victim of the violent offense of the nature of and the reasons for the plea agreement, including all offenses the prosecutor has agreed not to file, and ascertain any objections or comments the victim has to the plea agreement. RCW 9.94A.421. Only when a party is acting on behalf of the prosecutor is that party bound by the plea agreement. *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 843, 947 P.2d 1199.

RCW 7.69.020(4) clearly states the nature of a statement made by a victim to the court. Nowhere in the RCW does it require the victim to limit their statement to a previous discussion.

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